THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-000399

Teri Chappell, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Craig Chappell, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated, Appellant,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE RESPONDENTS ACTED AS AGENTS OF THE LADLES OPERATING COMPANIES/FRANCHISEES AND THEREFORE, WERE EMPLOYERS LIABLE UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA PAYMENT OF WAGES ACT.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE IT WAS PREMATURE DUE TO APPELLANT NOT HAVING A FULL AND FAIR OPPORTUNITY TO COMPLETE DISCOVERY.
- III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE IS A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT AS TO WHETHER RESPONDENTS CAME INTO POSSESSION OF CREDIT CARD TIPS CLAIMED BY APPELLANT.
- IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT HAD NO STANDING TO BRING AN ACTION AGAINST RESPONDENTS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 14, 2018, Appellant Craig Chappell brought this action asserting class-action claims against Respondents Ladles Franchising Inc., Ladlessoups, LLC, Sue Allen, and Tracey Allen as well as -- other Ladles Soups franchisee defendants for failure to pay wages under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-10 et seq., breach of contract, and conversion. (R. pp. 27-44; Complaint). Appellant encountered substantial challenges getting all of the defendants served. After Appellant was unable to effect service on all parties, on June 13, 2018, he filed a Motion for Extension of Time to Serve Summons and Complaint and Petition for Order of Publication which was granted on July 20, 2018. On or about June 20, 2018, Ladles Mt. Pleasant filed Answers to the Complaint. Next, an additional sixteen Ladles Soups franchisee defendants filed Answers on or about July 18, 2018. Finally, Respondents Ladles Franchising Inc., Ladlessoups, LLC, Sue Allen, and Tracey Allen (“Respondents” or “Franchisors”) filed their Answer on or about August 1, 2018 (R. pp. 45-57; Answer).

Subsequent to Answers being filed by the Ladles Soups defendants, sixteen Ladles Soups franchisee defendants represented by the same counsel, which did not include Respondents, filed three motions. On July 24 and 28, 2018, a Motion to Disallow Class Certification, Motion to Dismiss Improper Parties, and Motion to Dismiss based on Rule 12(b)(6) were filed by 16 of the Ladles Soups franchisee defendants. (R. pp. 58-64; Defendants’ Mot to Disallow Class Cert). A hearing on these motions was held and all three motions were denied by Orders dated January 29, 2019. (R. p. 3; January 29, 2019 Order denying Mot to Disallow Class Cert). On February 14, 2019, the Ladles Soups franchisee defendants filed a Motion to Reconsider the January 29, 2019 Order denying their Motion to Dismiss and was denied by Order dated March 6, 2019.

Appellant served written discovery on Respondents via e-mail on May 24, 2019. (R. pp. 80-92; R. pp. 93-100; Pl’s INT and RFP). Respondents served answers and responses to

Appellant's written discovery on August 21, 2019 (R. pp. 101-115; R. pp. 116-124; Resp. to INT and RFP). On August 22, 2019, Appellant filed a Motion to Compel discovery responses from 16 of the Ladles Soups franchisee defendants and a Motion to Intervene or in the Alternative Amend the Complaint to Add an Additional Party on behalf of a Ladles Soup West Ashley employee. (R. pp. 125-154; Pl's August 22, 2019 Mot to Compel). Subsequently, Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on August 26, 2019. (R. pp. 161-181; Franchisors' MSJ). On September 11, 2019, Appellant filed a Motion for Class Certification. (R. pp. 238-298; Pl's Motion for Class Cert). On October 4, 2019, Appellant amended his Motion to Compel to include Respondents and Ladles Mt. Pleasant. (R. pp. 311-389; Pl's Amended Mot to Compel). Because no scheduling order in this matter had ever been put in place, on October 22, 2019, Appellant filed a Motion for Status Conference and Scheduling Order (R. pp. 390-392; Mot. for Status Conf. and Schd. Ord.). Finally, on December 23, 2019, Appellant filed a Motion to Deem Requests to Admit Admitted served against 16 Ladles franchisee defendants who failed to respond. (R. pp. 413-441; Mot. to Deem RTAs Admitted).

On January 6, 2020, a hearing was held before the Honorable Bentley D. Price on Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and the Motion for Summary Judgment filed by 16 franchisee defendants as well as Appellant's Motion to Compel, Motion to Amend, Motion for Class Certification, and Motion to Deem Requests to Admit Admitted.

On January 7, 2020, the trial court issued an Order granting Appellant's Motion to Compel and denying Appellant's Motions to Intervene; denying the Motions for Summary Judgment of several Ladles franchisees; denying Appellant's Motion for Class Certification (without prejudice); denying Appellant's Motion to Amend; and denying Appellant's Motion for Requests to Admit to be deemed Admitted. (R. pp. 4-6; January 7, 2020 Order regarding several motions). On January 30, 2020, the Court issued its Order granting summary judgment in favor of

Respondents. (R. pp. 15-26; Order granting Sum. Jud.). On February 7, 2020, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider the trial court's Order. (R. pp. 588-684; Mot. to Recon.). On February 28, 2020, Appellant served his Notice of Appeal on Respondents.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, the appellate court applies the same standard which governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC: summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists v. M.S. Bailey & Sons Bankers*, 355 S.C. 104, 584 S.E.2d 375 (2003); *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 567 S.E.2d 857 (2002); *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E.2d 432 (Ct. App. 2003); *Redwend Ltd. P'ship v. Edwards*, 354 S.C. 459, 581 S.E.2d 496 (Ct. App. 2003). In determining whether any triable issue of fact exists, the evidence and all inferences which can reasonably be drawn therefrom must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Sauner v. Public Serv. Auth.*, 354 S.C. 397, 581 S.E.2d 161 (2003); *Hendricks v. Clemson Univ.*, 353 S.C. 449, 578 S.E.2d 711 (2003); *McNair v. Rainsford*, 330 S.C. 332, 499 S.E.2d 488 (Ct. App. 1998); *see also Laurens Emergency Med. Specialists*, 355 S.C. at 108, 584 S.E.2d at 377 (stating that in reviewing summary judgment motion, facts and circumstances must be viewed in light most favorable to non-moving party). If triable issues exist, those issues must go to the jury. *Baril v. Aiken Reg'l Med. Ctrs.*, 352 S.C. 271, 573 S.E.2d 830 (Ct. App. 2002); *Young v. South Carolina Dep't of Corrections*, 333 S.C. 714, 511 S.E.2d 413 (Ct. App. 1999).

Summary judgment is appropriate where the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 578 S.E.2d 329 (2003); *Regions Bank*, 354

S.C. at 659, 582 S.E.2d at 438; Rule 56(c), SCRC. All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be construed most strongly against the moving party. *Bayle v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 542 S.E.2d 736 (Ct. App. 2001); *see also Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc.*, 349 S.C. 558, 563, 564 S.E.2d 94, 96 (2002) (“On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.”).

Summary judgment is a drastic remedy, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues. *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *Id.*

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Craig Chappell was an hourly employee at Ladles James Island and was paid and hourly wage, plus tips. However, although Appellant worked for and earned credit card tips and cash tips, he was only allowed to retain some cash tips while his employer retained all credit card and debit card tips. (R. p. 760, ll. 10-25; Depo. of Terri Owens for Ladles James Island at p. 25, ll. 10-25; R. p. 737, ll. 14-24; Depo. of Craig Chappell at p. 19, ll. 14-24). Appellant contends that there was a company-wide policy among all of the Ladles defendants, which began with Respondents, to withhold the credit card tips from their employees and that these employees suffered the same damages as Appellant (R. p. 756, ll. 18-25; R. p. 757, ll. 1-9; Depo. of C. Chappell at p. 129, ll. 18-25 and p. 130, ll. 1-9). Appellant further contends that, beginning with the original location in West Ashley (Respondents Ladlessoups, LLC, Sue Allen, and Tracy Allen), the company practice was to distribute cash tips each day among the employees working that day,

but retain tips charged by customers to credit or debit cards. (R. p. 804, ll. 6-25; R. p. 805, ll. 1-2; Sue Allen Depo. at p. 21, ll. 6-25; p. 22, ll. 1-2).

The Ladles Soups restaurant concept was created by Sue Allen and Tracy Allen with the first location opening in West Ashley in 2007, the second location opening on Kiawah Island (Ladles Freshfields Village) in 2008, and the third location opening in Summerville (Ladles Soups Kinghtsville) in 2009. In 2010, Sue Allen and Tracy Allen started Respondent Ladles Franchising, Inc. for the purpose of selling Ladles Soups franchises. Sue Allen's sisters, Teri Owens (current owner of Ladles James Island) and Carol Ellenburg (current owner of Ladles Downtown), worked at the Ladles West Ashley location where they learned the business before opening their own Ladles Soups restaurants on James Island and downtown Charleston, respectively. Ladles Mt. Pleasant owner, Julie Dyke, also worked at Ladles West Ashley and Ladles Kinghtsville (Summerville) and Ladles Freshfields Village (Kiawah Island) where she learned the business before she and her husband, Erik Dyke, opened the Ladles Mt. Pleasant location. (R. p. 790, ll. 13-25; R. pp. 791-794; R. p. 795, ll. 4-24; Depo. of Julie Dyke at p. 9, ll. 13-25; pp. 10-13; p. 20, ll. 4-24). Additionally, Corey Paul worked at the Ladles West Ashley location where he learned the business before opening his own location in Fort Mill, South Carolina. Mr. Paul eventually purchased the West Ashely location from Sue Allen in 2017.

Appellant Chappell brought his lawsuit on behalf of himself and others similarly situated, alleging class-action causes of action for failure to pay wages under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act ("SCPWA"), breach of contract, and conversion. Appellant alleged in his Complaint that the Ladles defendants, including Respondents, wrongfully and intentionally withheld credit card tips that were rightly intended for Appellant and others similarly situated in violation of the SCPWA and that this was a company-wide policy of all Ladles defendants including Respondents. (R. p. 028, ¶2; R. pp. 034-037; Complaint at p. 2, ¶2; pp. 8-11).

On May 6, 2016, while at work, Appellant discovered a handwritten ledger kept at the Ladles James Island location that revealed the extent of its policy to withhold credit card tips from its employees. R. p. 036, ¶31; *Id.* at p. 10, ¶31. Appellant subsequently learned through conversations with a co-worker that the policy of withholding employee tips was a group-wide policy at all of the Ladles Soups locations. *Id.*; (R. p. 756, ll. 18-25; R. p. 757, ll. 1-9; Depo. of C. Chappell at p. 129, ll. 18-25 and p. 130, ll. 1-9). On May 7, 2016, Appellant Chappell confronted his manager, Teri Owens, who owns the Ladles James Island restaurant, telling her he thought it was wrong for an employer to retain its employees' credit card tips. R. p. 036, ¶32; *Id.* at ¶32. Appellant Chappell was immediately terminated when he complained about the policy of withholding credit card tips and filed the underlying lawsuit on February 14, 2018. R. p. 037, ¶33, *Id.* at p. 11, ¶33.

Franchisor Sue Allen testified at her deposition that while she owned the Ladles Soup locations at West Ashley, Freshfields Village (Kiawah Island), and Knightsville (Summerville), she only paid the employees their hourly wages and she retained the credit card tips to subsidize those employees' hourly wages. (R. p. 804, ll. 6-25; R. p. 805, ll.1-2; Depo. of S. Allen at p. 21, ll. 6-25; p. 22, ll. 1-2). At their depositions, representatives of Ladles James Island, Ladles West Ashley, and Ladles Fort Mill all confirmed that they have a policy of withholding credit card tips from their employees. (R. p. 760, ll. 10-25; R. p. 761, ll. 1-18; Depo. of T. Owens at p. 25, ll. 10-25; p. 27, ll. 1 -18 and R. p. 770, ll. 1-16; R. p. 772, ll. 3-5; Depo. of Corey Paul for Ladles West Ashley and Ladles Fort Mill¹ at p 32, ll. 1-16; p. 37, ll. 3-5). Ladles Mt. Pleasant owner, Julie Dyke, testified at her deposition that each month all of the credit tips for Ladles Mt. Pleasant are “distributed among all the employees based on how many hours they work.” (R. p. 796, ll. 23-25;

¹ Mr. Paul owns Ladles West Ashley as well as Ladles Fort Mill.

R. p. 797, ll. 1-2; Julie Dyke Depo. at p. 24, ll. 23-25 and p. 25, ll. 1-2). However, at the October 29, 2019, hearing on Ladles Mt. Pleasant's Motion for Summary Judgment, their counsel confirmed that they only "turn over the tips, the credit card tips, through a bonus program to the employees." (R. p. 823, ll. 19-24; Ladles Mt. Pleasant Mot. SMJ Hr'g Tr., at p. 11, ll. 19-24). Ms. Dyke also testified at her deposition that she attended annual or biannual meetings with the Ladles franchisors and other Ladles franchisees where a tipping policy and wages were discussed. (R. p. 798, ll. 11-25; R. p. 799, ll. 1-7; Depo. of Julie Dyke for Ladles Mt. Pleasant at p. 27, ll. 11-25 and p. 28, ll. 1-7).

Mr. Paul testified in his deposition as representative for Ladles West Ashley and Ladles Fort Mill that, upon purchasing the Ladles West Ashley franchise, he continued the same policy of withholding credit card tips that Respondents implemented when they owned the West Ashley location under the Ladlessoups, LLC operating company:

Q: What was the policy when you worked at West Ashley when – before you purchased it?

A: It was, I'm assuming, very similar to what I have now.

Q: Because you didn't change any policies when you purchased it, correct?

A: I did not come up with any new policies.

Q: Okay. So when you worked there, the store kept the credit card tips?

A: Yes.

(R. p. 777, ll. 1-11; Depo. of C. Paul at p. 66, ll. 1-11).

According to the Ladles Franchise Agreement, Respondent Ladles Franchising, Inc. retained an extensive level of control over the individual restaurant locations including, but not limited to:

1. “sole discretion” of employment and evaluation of individual restaurant managers (R. pp. 692-693, Sec. 2; R. pp. 707-708; pp. 8-9, Sec. 2 and pp. 23-24);
2. trademarks (R. p. 695, Sec. 4; p. 11, Sec. 4);
3. the condition, appearance, and operation of individual restaurant locations including, but not limited to condition, appearance, and operation of the restaurant as well as the restaurant menu items, ingredients, and food and beverage distributors and suppliers; and “compliance with laws and good business practices” (R. pp. 703-709; pp. 19-25);
4. marketing (R. pp. 709-712, Sec. 9; pp. 25-28, Sec. 9);
5. reports, financial statements, and financial condition of individual restaurant locations (R. pp. 712-713, Sec. 10; pp. 28-29, Sec. 10);
6. inspections and audits of individual restaurant locations including, but not limited to, the right to inspect restaurant and premises: observe and video tape the operations of the restaurant; interview personnel of the restaurant; interview customers of the restaurant; inspect and copy books, records, and documents relating to the operation of the restaurant (R. pp. 713-715, Sec. 11; pp. 29-31, Sec. 11);
7. termination of the franchise if the individual restaurant: fails to accurately report gross sales or fails to make payments due; fails to “comply with any other provision of this Agreement or any mandatory specification, standard or operating procedure we prescribe;” “fail to use your reasonable efforts employ (sic) on a full time basis qualified Restaurant Managers with qualifications and experience acceptable to us; etc. (R. pp. 719-722, Sec. 14; pp. 35-38, Sec. 14).

(R. p. 692, Sec. 2; R. p. 695, Sec. 4; R. pp. 703-709, Sec. 8; R. pp. 709-712, Sec. 9; R. pp. 712-713, Sec. 10; R. pp. 713-715, Sec. 11; R. pp. 719-722, Sec. 14; Ladles Franchise Agreement at p. 8, Sec. 2; p. 11, Sec. 4; pp. 19-25, Sec. 8; pp. 25-28, Sec. 9; pp. 28-29, Sec. 10; pp. 29-31, Sec. 11; pp. 35-38, Sec. 14).

The close control of Ladles franchisees by Respondent Ladles Franchisor extended to employee wages, the control of which is fundamentally important to the Ladles franchise design and concept. The importance of Franchisor “control” over employee wages (Appellant contends

that wages include cash and credit card tips under the SCPWA), is manifest in the “design” of the Ladles franchise concept, according to Ladles founder Ms. Allen:

*The design of the store, the reason we did it the way we did it, is because **the only two things that you can really control in money, is food costs and employee wages, so the way that the store is designed is to have less employees.***

(R. p. 734; Ladles co-founder, Sue Allen, YouTube (2012), <https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UoO8ua34ZnM> video at 5:18).

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE RESPONDENTS ACTED AS AGENTS OF THE LADLES FRANCHISEES AND THEREFORE, WERE EMPLOYERS LIABLE UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA PAYMENT OF WAGES ACT.

Respondents Ladles Franchising, Inc., Sue Allen, and Tracy Allen are liable under the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act (“SCPWA”) because they had an agency relationship with the Ladles operating companies/franchisees. The SCPWA generally requires an employer to pay all wages due. S.C. Code Ann. §41-10-40(A). The SCPWA defines “employer” as “every person, firm, partnership, association, corporation, receiver, or other officer of a court of this State, the State or any political subdivision thereof, *and any agent* or officer of the above classes employing any person in this State.” S.C. Code Ann § 41-10-10(1). (Emphasis added). The South Carolina Court of Appeals held that the South Carolina “legislature intended to impose individual liability on agents or officers of a corporation who knowingly permit their corporation to violate the Act [SCPWA].” *Dumas v. InfoSafe Corp.*, 463 S.E.2d 641, 645, 320 S.C. 188 (Ct.App. 1995) (emphasis added). In other words, *Dumas* requires the court to determine whether agents or officers “knowingly permitted” the business to violate the Payment of Wages Act. *See also Allen v. Pinnacle Healthcare Sys.*, 394 S.C. 268, 276, 715 S.E.2d 362 (Ct.App., 2011).

“Agency is the fiduciary relationship that arises when one person (a ‘principal’) manifests assent to another person (an ‘agent’) that the agent shall act on the principal's behalf and subject

to the principal's control.” *Froneberger v. Kirkland Dale Smith, Janel Elizabeth Smith, Euro Mortg. Bankers, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 37, 748 S.E.2d 625 (S.C. App. 2013)(quoting Restatement (Third) of Agency § 1.01 (2006)). An agent is one appointed by a principal as his representative and to whom the principal confides the management of some business to be transacted in the principal's name, or on his account, and who brings about or effects legal relationships between the principal and third parties." *Colleton County Taxpayers Ass'n v. Sch. Dist. of Colleton County*, 371 S.C. 224, 239, 638 S.E.2d 685, 693 (2006).

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