THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2020-000399

---

Teri Chappell, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Craig Chappell, on behalf of himself  
and others similarly situated, Appellant,

v.

Ladles Soups – James Island, LLC; Ladlessoups, LLC; Ladles Soups at Can Bay, LLC; Ladles  
Soups At Citadel Mall, LLP; Ladles Soups Calhoun, LLC; Ladles Soups Cane Bay, LLC; Ladles  
Soups Coosaw, LLC; Ladles Soups Downtown Charleston, LLC; Ladlessoups Fresh Fields,

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

and

"We may change, modify or improve the System from time to time to enhance the operations of Ladlessoups' Restaurants. All improvements and additions, you, we or anyone else makes to the System, whatever made or used in connection with the system, will inure to us and become our sole property. We grant, to qualified persons, franchises to own and operate Ladlessoups Restaurants

pursuant to the System selling the Products and services we authorize and approve.” (Franchise Agreement, R, p. 691).

This is the essence of the Ladles Franchise Agreement and, as observed in *Allen*, “...the relationship was not unlike typical franchisor/franchisee relationships.” *supra*, 409 F. Supp. 2<sup>nd</sup> at 676.

Further, similar to *Allen*, the purpose of the rules and regulations...“was to ensure a similar experience at all Comfort Inn franchise locations” and “maintain...uniform service within, and public goodwill toward the [“Choice”] system.” *Allen, supra*, 409 F. Supp. 2<sup>nd</sup> 677.

The lack of either a right to control under the Franchise Agreement or actual control by the franchisor of day-to-day franchisee operations means that Appellant’s arguments that franchisor had knowledge of franchisee’s credit card tip policies, or that it failed to stop some perceived wrong, also fail.

Having been presented with no evidence that any of the Respondents were officers or agents of Appellant’s employer defined by Section 40-10-10(1), Judge Price was entirely correct in granting summary judgment to Respondents, as a matter of law.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO RESPONDENTS WHERE APPELLANT FAILED TO MOVE TO CONTINUE THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT HEARING TO CONDUCT ADDITIONAL DISCOVERY AND FAILED TO SHOW WHY THE TIME FOR DISCOVERY WAS INSUFFICIENT**

Respondents answered the Complaint on August 1, 2018. Appellant failed to serve any written discovery upon Respondents until May 24, 2019, nine (9) months and twenty-four (24) days after the pleadings were closed.

Respondents answered interrogatories and requests for production on August 21, 2019 (Respondent’s Answers to Interrogatories and Request for Production, R. p. 101-124). On October 4, 2019, Appellant amended its motion to compel originally directed to other

defendants, to allege deficiencies in Respondents' discovery responses (Appellant's Amended Motion to Compel, R. pp. 311-389).

The motions to compel were heard on January 6, 2020, before Judge Price along with Respondents' motion for summary judgment.

In the colloquy between the court, Appellant's counsel and Respondents' counsel (Transcript, R. p. 856, line 1 – p. 859, line 23), it was developed that the only deficiency alleged against the Respondents was their objection to request for production number 11 which reads as follows:

“11. Produce a complete, itemized accounting, financial summary of all amounts paid and/or owed to you by any other party to this action for the period January 1, 2015 to present.”  
(Appellant's Request for Production No. 11, R. p. 97)

The Court responded saying “You will get it.” (Transcript, R. p. 859, line 23).

Respondents' served their second supplemental responses to request for production on January 16, 2020 (not January 30, 2020, as mistakenly referenced on page 35 of Appellant's Initial Brief), fourteen (14) days prior to Judge Price's order granting summary judgment (Respondent's Second Supplemental Response to Request for Production, R. pp. 676-684). This gave Appellant sufficient time to call to the court's attention any further alleged deficiencies or any other discovery issue that Appellant believed would be relevant before the court's action on the summary judgment motion. At the motion hearing, the court had invited a proposed order from Respondent's counsel, putting Appellant on notice to bring any such matters to the court's attention without delay (Transcript, R. p. 878, lines 12-17).

This is an issue that cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. See *Prvor v. Northwest Apartments, LTD.*, 321 S.C. 524, 529, 469 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 630, 633 (Ct. App. 1996), wherein the Court

held that Appellant's failure to request a continuance of a summary judgment hearing while discovery was pending does not preserve that issue for appeal.

Appellant did not move for a continuance or stay of the summary judgment hearing nor request that the court hold its decision in abeyance. In failing to do so the Appellant "...took no steps to protect their interests..." See *Degenhart v. Knights of Columbus*, 309 S.C. 114, 420 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 495 (1992). The failure to move for a continuance before the trial court means that this issue is not properly before the Appellate Court. *id.* at 309 S.C. 118.

Appellant now contends that request for production number 11 would shed light on whether or not a percentage of credit card tips was paid to the franchisor as part of the franchisee's royalties, however, this is not the issue posed in request for production number 11. The request for production asks for documents showing the amounts paid by the other defendants to the franchisor but does not mention documentation regarding credit card tips. Further, the issue of whether credit card tips were included in the calculation of royalties was specifically answered in the negative by Sue Allen in her 30(b)(6) deposition on behalf of Ladles Franchising, Inc.:

"Q. And so how does the -- so can you tell me about how the individual stores, they pay --it's a royalty fee to you?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And how is that determined?

A. It's based -- it's based on the individual store.

Q. Right. The percentage that they pay is based on the individual store.

A. Correct.

Q. But how do you come up with percentage of what is being -  
- that they pay?

- A. Percent of what?
- Q. Right. I understand that each store might have a different percentage, but what are they paying a percentage of?
- A. They pay on their sales of their product, less any discounts that they wouldn't have received money for, less taxes, and less tips.”

(Sue Allen depo., R. p. 809, line 10 – p. 810, line 3).

Appellant had the opportunity to explore the same issue at Teri Owens’ deposition, testifying on behalf of Ladles Soup-James Island, LLC. She also answered in the negative (Teri Owens depo., R. p. 762, lines 7-20).

Appellant had a full and fair opportunity to explore this subject in as much detail as he wished in the 30(b)(6) depositions of Ladles Franchising, Inc. and Ladles Soup-James Island, LLC, the only two (2) witnesses who would have information about the handling of tips allegedly belonging to the Appellant. On page 36 of his brief, Appellant implies that other franchisees were not made available for depositions, however, this issue was never raised before the circuit court and is not a matter over which these Respondents had control.

In Guinan v. Tenet Health Systems of Hilton Head, Inc., 383 S.C. 48, 54-55, 677 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 32 (Ct. App. 2009), relied upon by Judge Price in his January 30, 2020 Order, the Court of Appeals stated:

“In Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 580 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 433, 439-40 (2003) our Supreme Court rejected Dawkins ‘argument’ that summary judgment was premature because they did not have a full and fair opportunity for discovery.” “A party claiming summary judgment is premature because they have not been provided a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery must advance a good reason why the time was insufficient under the facts of the case, and why further discovery would uncover additional relevant evidence and create a genuine issue of material fact.” id. at 354 S.C. 71, 580 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 439-40.

Judge Price was correct in concluding that Appellant advanced no sufficient reason why further discovery might create a genuine issue for trial.

In summary, having failed to even serve written discovery for over nine (9) months after the pleadings were closed, in failing to move the court to continue the summary judgment hearing or invite the court's attention to any supposed deficiencies in Respondents' second supplemental responses prior to the January 30, 2020 order, and having had the full opportunity to depose not only his own employer but also the franchisor's representative, Appellant can neither show that he was disadvantaged in the discovery process nor that he has preserved this issue for appeal.

### **III. THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT LADLES FRANCHISING, INC. CONVERTED OR EVEN RECEIVED ANY PORTION OF CREDIT CARD TIPS CLAIMED BY THE APPELLANT**

Since Appellant did not work for any Respondent, they had no opportunity to possess credit card tips allegedly intended for him. Of course, Respondents could not convert that which they never possessed.

Appellant therefore cobbles together a disingenuous argument that the Respondents received and converted tips claimed by the Respondent, by arguing a tortured reading of the definition of gross sales in the Franchise Agreement and a confusing misreading of the deposition testimony of Corey Paul. He claims that Ladles Franchising, Inc. came into possession of, and then converted a percentage of credit card tips intended for him equivalent to the royalty fee percentage.

In Crane v. City Corp. National Services, Inc., 313 S.C. 70, 437, S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 50, 52 (1993), the Supreme Court defined conversion as:

“Conversion is the unauthorized assumption and exercise of the right of ownership over goods or personal chattels belonging to

another, to the alteration of the condition or the exclusion of the owner's rights." *id.* at 437 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 52.

In *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 432 (Ct. App. 2003), the Court of Appeals stated:

"Conversion may arise by some illegal use or misuse, or by illegal detention of another's personal property. (citation omitted) Conversion is a wrongful act which emanates by either a wrongful taking or wrongful detention." *id.* at 354 S.C. 667.

Under the Franchise Agreement royalty fees are four percent (4%) of gross sales, although the percentage was negotiable and some franchisees paid less. Gross sales are defined in the Franchise Agreement as:

"C. Definition of Gross Sales

As used in this Agreement, the term "Gross Sales" shall mean gross sales of all food, beverage, other menu items, merchandise, and goods and other services sold or performed by or for you or the Restaurant, in, upon, or from the Premises, or through or by means of the business conducted at the Restaurant or the Premises whether for cash or credit. Sales and service taxes collected from customers and paid to the appropriate taxing authority, all management or employee meals, and sale of cigars, cigarettes and newspapers as well as income from pay telephones shall not be included in Gross Sales. The discounted portion of menu prices whether by way of coupons, promotions or otherwise shall not be included in Gross Sales." (Franchise Agreement, R. p. 702)

Tips and gratuities are not mentioned in the definition of Gross Sales. No fair reading of the definition of "Gross Sales" can be argued to include tips whether credit card or cash. While Appellant focuses on the phrase "services sold or performed" for the restaurant, this does not include tips. There are many services for which a restaurant may charge a fee that are not tips, such as catering charges, large dining party automatic service charges, and banquet event fees.

Under federal law, restaurant service charges are not considered tips. See 29 CFR Section 531.55. Respondents are unaware of any contrary South Carolina Authority.

In order for even a percentage of tips claimed by the Appellant to have come into Respondent's possession, they would have to have been first collected by his employer, Ladles Soup-James Island, LLC and a portion paid over to Ladles Franchising, Inc. This never happened. Teri Owens, owner of Ladles Soup-James Island, LLC testified referring to her "Square" gross and net, point of sale reports, and directly stated:

"Q: Ok, when you say that it is in that report, what report are you referring?

A: My Square report. My Square summary report. There is a gross number. There is a net number.

Q: Right and tips are not included in either of those?

A: Tips are included in - - I think they are included in gross, but I am not sure. They are not included in net. Taxes are not included in net because they go directly back out.

Q: So.

A: So no I do not pay the franchise a percentage of the tips."

(Owens depo. R. p. 762, lines 7-20).

In her 30(b)(6) deposition on behalf of Ladles Franchising, Inc., Sue Allen testified consistently.

"Q: Right, I understand that each store might have a different percentage, but what are they paying a percentage of?

A: They pay on their sales of their product, less any discounts that they wouldn't have received money for, less taxes and less tips."

(Sue Allen depo. R. p. 809, line 23 – p. 810, line 3).

Julie Dyke (Ladles Mt. Pleasant) testified similarly:

"A: Gross would be we don't pay royalties on our sales tax, which is included in the gross.

Q: Right.

A: So, to me, in my mind that is net. We don't pay royalties to her on tax.

Q: Right and that is actually –

A: So we have our sales and then minus our tax, you know, tips are not included in that. I would not pay her royalties on tips I took in. So that is – to me, is net. So –

Q: And how do you know that tips aren't included in gross sales?

A: Because they're not.

Q: You know it it's not because you don't pay it?

A: Right because I have a report that shows me total sales, discounts tax.”

(Julie Dyke depo. R. p. 800, lines 1-17).

In his brief, Appellant chooses not to cite the above referenced deposition testimony, but rather the somewhat confusing testimony of Corey Paul (Appellant's Initial Brief p. 27 and 28). Mr. Paul's confusion was certainly in part induced by the questioner and a double negative question concerning the definition of gross sales in the Franchise Agreement (Corey Paul depo., R. p. 780, line 25 – p. 781, lines 1-3), however, after reviewing his records Paul clarified his testimony as follows:

“Q: Corey, my name is Kerry Koon. I represent Ladles Franchising, Inc., Suzie Allen, Tracy Allen, and Ladlessoups, LLC. My first question is, at least in the case of the West Ashley restaurant under your ownership and the Fort Mill restaurant under your ownership, Ladles Franchising, Inc. does not collect royalties based upon credit cards tips; is that correct?

A: That is correct.

Q: Alright. So that would not be included in the definition of “Gross Sales” as it applies to franchising fees for West

Ashley under your ownership or Fort Mill under your ownership; is that correct?

A: That is correct.”

(Corey Paul depo. R. p. 782, line 19 – p. 783, line 8).

Of course, even if Corey Paul had paid royalties on credit card tips, that would have no relevance to the motion for summary judgment nor provide a scintilla of evidence of conversion. Appellant never worked in Corey Paul’s restaurant, so Corey Paul could not have come into possession of tips allegedly intended for Appellant.

#### **IV. THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT APPELLANT HAD NO STANDING TO SUE RESPONDENTS**

Pervading all of Appellant’s arguments is the undeniable fact that Appellant has no standing to sue parties for whom he has never worked, has not contracted with and who have never collected or possessed tips he claims were intended for him.

The general rule of standing is set out in Sloan v. Friends of the Hunley, 369 S.C. 20, 630 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 474 (2006):

“Generally, a party must be a real party in interest to the litigation to have standing.”

and, a real party in interest is:

“A party with a real, material or substantial interest in the outcome of the litigation.” id. at 369 S.C. 28.

Standing requires a justiciable case or controversy and if not, the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. See Lennon v. South Carolina Coastal Council, 330 S.C. 414, 498 S.E. 2<sup>nd</sup> 906 (Ct. App. 1998), wherein the Court stated:

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